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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

MICHAEL SMITH,
Plaintiff,

CIVIL ACTION
V. No. 14-6358

SHERIFF GEORGE MCCLENDON,
THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, and
UNNAMED PHILADELPHIA SHERIFFS

Defendang.

OPINION
Slomsky, J. May 4, 2015
l. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Michael Smith was escorted out of the Criminal Justice Center in Elplad
when he was attending jury dutyPlaintiff suffers fromComplex Regional Pain Syndrome,
disability that affects his central nervous systamdrequires the use ofraetal pump inserted in
his stomach. In this cadelaintiff claims thabecause of his disabilitye was forced to leave the
Criminal Justice Center awdasnot permitted to serve as a prospective juror.

Plaintiff initiated this action oNovember 5, 2014y filing a Complaintalleging claims
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and Titleof the Americans with Disabilities ActDefendants arthe
City of Philadelphia, Deputy Sheriff George McClendon, and unnadeguuty $eriffs.
Defendants have filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint, which is before the Couwat for
decision.

. BACKGROUND
On June 6, 2013, Plaintiff went to the Criminal Justice Center (the “CJC”) in Hph&ale

for jury duty. (Doc. No. 1 f 7.) Plaintiff suffers from Complex Regional Paindf@yne
1
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(“CRPS”) which affects the central nervous system. (Doc. No. 1 § aiptiRltreats his CRPS
with a metal pump whichs locatedin his stomach. 1d.) Because of the presence of the
implanted pump, Plaintiff carries a card which contains information about the mddigeaé.
Upon entering the CJC, Plaintiff presentihe medical devicecard to @puty $eriffs in the
lobby of the CJC (Id. 1 9.) After soméinitial confusion” regarding his medical card, Plaintiff
was allowed to proceed to the jury roond. X

At 10:15 a.m., the jury pool was excused for a break. tiffainformed the deputy
sheriffs in the lobbythat he was leaving the building and would again need assistance getting
through security due to his metal pump. (Doc. No. 1 § 10.) When Plaintiff returned frdm lunc
he was removed from the line by Defend@ebrgeMcClendon. [d. T 11.) Plaintiff alleges that
McClendon told Plaintiff “you’re not getting back in the building.” Plaintiff, who was
displaying a juror sticker, responded to McClendon that he needed to reenter ther L0¢ f
duty. (d. 711, 12.)

After Plaintiff told McClendon that he was a juror, McClendon called a woman named
Tanya who wasn charge ofthe jury room. (Doc. No. 1 § 13.) Tanya maeth Plaintiff in the
lobby of the CJC and escorted him back to the jury rooid.) (Plaintiff claims that while
walking with Tanw, she tolchim that the deputyteeriffs were “frequently not accommodating
of individuals with special needs regarding accessibilitid’) (

Later that dayafter Plaintiff was asgned a room number and a judd@jee jurors were
excused for lunch. (Doc. No. 1 § 14.) Plaintiff returned from lunch at 1:00 dganf 15.)
When Plaintiff returned, he stoodtime securityine until adeputy $eriff told Plaintiff he would
not be permitted toeenterthe CJC. Id.) Plaintiff again showed his medical cardihve ceputy

sheriffs, but the deputy sheriffs “refused to look at the cardd’) (Finally, Plaintiff lifted his



shirt to show the&leputy seriffs that Plaintiff had an internal device protrudihgotigh the skin

of his stomach. 14d.) Defendant McClendon approached and told Plaintiff to “get out of the
building.” (Id. § 16.) Plaintiff once again explained that he was at the CJC for jury ddiy] (
17.)

Plaintiff did not exit the building ahvariousdeputy $eriffs approachetiim andsaid
that he would be arrested if he did not leave. (Doc. No. 1 | 17.) Planrifcalled the
Philadelphia Police Department and informed them tiatdeputy Beriffs wereattemptingto
remove him from theCJC. (d. 1 18.) Helen Holsworth, a CJC employee involved with jury
selectionalso told Plaintiff that he would be arrestétle did not leave the CJCId( 19.) The
deputy sheriffs then escorted Plaintiff outsidil. { 20.)

While outside theCJC, Ms. Holswrth called the jury commissioner, Daniel Rendine.
(Doc. No. 1 § 21.) Ms. Holsworth apparently told Pl#éirithat Mr. Rendine called theeguty
sheriffs “a bunch of yahoos.” Id.) According to Plaintiff, Mr. Rendin¢hen offered to take
Plaintiff off the jury service list permanently. Id() Plaintiff declined, explainingo Ms.
Holsworth that “he valued the civic duty associated with jury sefvigde.)

Following the incident on June 6, 2013, Plaintiff fled a complaint agaimstieputy
sheriffs with the Internal Affairs Division (“/AD”)" (Doc. No. 1 22.) Deputy Brown, an IAD
Sheriff Deputy interviewed Plaintiff at his home.Id() He identified the Defendant deputy
sheriffsfrom a series of photographsld.j Accordingto Plaintiff, the IAD investigation was
expected to be completed by April 2014, but Plaintiff has received any updatnce the

interviewdespite his telephone calls seekinfprmation. (d.)

! In the ComplaintPlaintiff does not identify the name of the ageirtwhich hefiled the IAD
complaint, but it appears from subsequent events that it was the IAD of theeRitla
Sheriff's Department.



On November 5, 2014, Plaintiff filed a Complaint agaitie¢ Cty of Philadelphia,
Sheriff GeorgeMcClendon, andhefour unknowndeputy $eriffs allegingthe following claims
(1) anunreasonable seizure in violation loé Fourth Amendmentights pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
8 1983; (2) a violation ohis substantive due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983; (3) a violatiorhifequal protection rights under the Fourteenth
Amendment pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983; (4) a Manahicipal liability claim against the City
of Philadelphia pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983; and (5) a discrimination claim under Tittael of
Americans with Disabilities Act. (Doc. No. 1.) On January 2, 2015, Defendants filed a Motion
to Dismiss the Complaint. (Doc. No. 4.) On January 18, 2015, Plaintiff filed a Response. (Doc.
No. 5.) For reasons that follow, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss will be granted irapdr
denied in part.
1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The motion to dismiss standard under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) is se

forth in Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009). Aftgbalit is clear that “threadbare recitals of
the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statementsulicedtto

defeat a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismidel. at 663;see alsoBell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550

U.S. 544 (2007). “To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual

matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its Edbgpharm S.A.

France v. Abbott Labs707F.3d 223, 231 n.14 (3d Cir. 2013) (citigdperidan v. NGK Metals

Corp, 609 F.3d 239, 262 n.27 (3d Cir. 2010)). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff

pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inferertbe thefiadant is

2 The Complaint listsonly one countan unreasonable seizuckim in violation of Plaintiff's
Fourth Amendment rights pursu&nt42 U.S.C. § 1983.Doc No. lat 6.) However, the first
paragraph of Plaintiff's Complaint includése additional claims described abov#. § 1.)



liable for the misconduct allegedId. Applying the principles ofgbal andTwombly, the Third

Circuit in Santiago v. Warminstéfownship,629 F.3d 121 (3d Cir. 2010), set forth a thpaet

analysis that a distriatourt in this Circuit mustanduct in evaluating whether allegations in a

complaint survive a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss:
First, the court must “tak[e] note of the elements a plaintiff must plead to state a
claim.” Second, the court should identify allegations that, “because they are no
more than conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption of truth.” Finally,
“where there are welbleaded factual allegations, a court should assume their
veracity and then determine whether they plausibly give rise to an entitlement for
relief.”

Id. at 130(quotinglgbal, 556 U.S. at 675, 679). “This means that our inquiry is normally broken

into three parts: (1) identifying the elements of the claim, (2) reviewing thelaom strike

conclusory allegations, and then (3) looking at wedl-pleaded components of the complaint

and evaluating whether all of the elements identified in part one of the irayeirsufficiently

alleged.” Malleus v. George641 F.3d 560, 563 (3d Cir. 2011).

A complaint must do more than allege a plaintiff's entitlement to relief, it must “show”

such an entitlement with its factgzowler v. UPMC Shadyside, 578 F.3d 203, -210(3d Cir.

2009)(citing Phillips v. Cnty. of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 238 (3d Cir. 2008)). “[W]here the

well-pleaded facts do not pmit the court to infer more than the mere possibility of midcah
the complaint has allegedbut it has not ‘showr~‘that the pleader is entitled to relief.1gbal,
556 U.S. at 679. The “plausibility” determination is a “conspecific task that cpiires the
reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and common setge.”
V. ANALYSIS

A. Plaintiff's Claim s Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983

Plaintiff brings the majority of his claims under the Civil Rights Act, 43.G0. 8§ 1983

which provides that “[e]very person who, under color of [state law], subjects, orscaube



subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdi@i@oft to the
deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constituttblaas shall be
liable to the party injured” in an appropriate action.

Under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983, Plaintiff alleges a violation of his Fourth Amendmentioght
to be subject to unreasonable seizures, a violation of his substantive due process and equal
protection rights under the Fourteenth Amendment, and finally, a claim of municipdityiabi

pursuant to the Supreme Court’s decision in Monell v. Dep’t of Social Services oftyhef Ci

New York 436 U.S. 658 (1978). The Court will review each claim in turn.

1. Plaintiff's 8§ 1983 claims against Sheriff McClendon and unnamed
deputy sheriffs will be dismissed

a. Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment claim
Plaintiff first claims that he suffered an unreasonable seizure in violatibis Fourth
Amendment rights when he was escorted out of the CJC. (Doc. No. 1 § 2.) The Fourth
Amendment prohibits “unreasonable seiztirdd.S. Const. amend. IVIn order to state a claim
for an unreasonable seizure under the Fourth Amendment, a plaintiff must show: (1) that a

seizure ocorred; and (2) that the seizure was unreasonable. Ashton v. City of Uniontown, 459 F.

App’x 185, 189 (3d Cir. 2012).

Plaintiff's claim fails because he was nevseized for purposes of the Fourth
Amendment. The Supreme Court Hasd that an individual is “seized” under the Fourth
Amendment when “in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a rel@sona

person would have believed that he was fnedt to leave.” United States v. Mendenhah46

U.S. 544, 554 (198Qmplasis added) In Sheppard v. Beermathe court dealt with a situation

wherea law clerkwas escortedut of a courthouséy court officers The law clerkhadarrived

in chambers and learndém court officers that the judge had fired him. 18 F.3d 140,(2d



Cir. 1994) The officersthen escortedthe law clerkfrom chambersto the outside of the
courthouse Sheppard18 F.3d at 150.The court heldthat under the Fourth Amendmethe
plaintiff had not been seized when he was escorted out of théncoset because he was “free to
go anywhere else that he dediravith the exception of the courthouskl. at 153.

Here, like the plaintiff inSheppard Plaintiff was not “seized” under the Fourth
Amendment, and thus his Fourth Amendment rights were not violated. Plaintiff was asked t
leave the courthouse by Defendant McClendon. (Doc. No. 1 § 16.) Althcugh Rlaintiff
refused to leav®efendant Deputy Sheriffs told him that he would be arrested if he did not leave,
Plaintiff was not arrested but meradgcorted outsidthe courthouse (Id. 119.) Plaintiff makes
no allegations that he was touched in any way during this encoupli&ntiff was free to go
wherever he wantet gooutside of the courthouseGiven these circumstances, Plaintiff could
not have reasonaplbelieved that he was not free to leavEherefore Plaintiff has failed to
plausibly allege that he sustained a violation of his Foutthendment right against
unreasonable seizure and tbligim will be dismissed

b. Plaintiff's two claims under the Fourteenth Amendment will be
dismissed

I. Substantive Due Process
Plaintiff next claims that Defendants violated his substamtivee processghts under the
Fourteenth AmendmentSubstantive due process proteagsinstthe exercise of power without
any reasonable justification in the service of a legitimate governmenedtiob}” Cnty. of

Sacramento v. Lewj$23 U.S. 833, 846 (1998). In order to establish a substantive due process

violation, a plaintiff must showthat (1) an actor engaged in conduct under color of state law;

(2) a deprivation of a protected liberty interest by that condemtirred and (3) the deprivation



shocksthe conscience._ Chainey v. Stte®823 F.3d 200, 219 (3d Cir. 2008). Only the most

egregious conduct can satisfy ttanscienceshocking prong.d.
The Third Circuit haseldthat a protected liberty interest for purposes of the substantive
due proces analysis is reserved to “the most intimate matters of family, prisadypersonal

autonomy.” Ambruster v. Cavanaugh, 410 F. App’'x 564, 567 (3d Cir. 2GER;als@lbright v.

Oliver, 510 U.S. 266, 272 (1994) (“The protections of substantive duesgd@ave for the most
part been accorded to matters relating to marriage, family, procreatidbrihe right to bodily
integrity.”). Here, Plaintiff contends that he has a protected liberty interest in sasirgy
potential juror. The Court cannot firathy legal precedentor this claim, and Plaintiff fails to
provide anysuchsupport. However, even if the Court were to find as a matter of first impression
that Plaintiff had a protected liberty interest in serving as a potential juronithstastive de
process claimwould still fail because he has natlleged conduct that would “shock the
conscience.”

As noted above, only the most egregious conducbnsidereadonscience shockingln

Gottlieb ex rel. Calabria v. Laurel Highlands School Distttot Third Circuitexamined whether

a student could meet the conscience shocking pndremn her teacher pushed her into a door
272 F.3d 168, 1723 (3d Cir. 2001). In concluding that the teacher’s behavior was not
conscience shockinghé court reasonedhat althoughthe teacher had placed his hand on the
plaintiff’s shoulder and pushed him a few inches, this condiad “so minor that even if
[plaintiff was injured], it cannot be inferred . . . that [the teacher] intended to &ctaus and
sadisticallyso as to constitute a constitutional violatiorGottlieb, 272 F.3dat 175. Thus, the

court concluded that the push did not shock the conscience because it was not “a brutal and



inhumane abuse of official power literally shocking to the consciendd.”(citing Hall v.
Tawney 621 F.2d 607, 613 (4th Cir. 1980)).

Here, Plaintiff washottouched at all while he was escorted from the courthodsewas
merely asked to leave the courthouse, and when he refused, he was escorted(@adsidé¢o. 1
1 20.) At that point, he was free to go wherever he wanted to go. Undeciheumstanceshe
actions taken by the deputy sheriffs and Defentiéo@lendonsimply do not rise to the level of
conscience shocking behavior. Thus, Plaintiff’s substantive due process clsum fai

i Equal Protection

Plaintiff also alleges aviolation of the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth
Amendmentased a the alleged discrimination that occurred because of his physical disability
The Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause provides that no Sliatdeshato any
person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” U.S. Const. amend. ALV, §
Ordinarily, a plaintiff averring discrimination under 8 198&8sed on a violation of the equal
protection clausenust allege that a state actor intentionally discriminated adamdiecause of

his membership in a protected clagghoemakew. City of Lock Haven906 F. Supp. 230, 238

(M.D. Pa. 1995). However, the Supreme Court has identified that plaintiffs who are not
members of a protected class may bring an equal protection claim under a fredcjass of

one.” Vill. of Willowbrookv. Olech 528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000).

Here, Plaintiff’'s equal protection claimnay only procceed on a class afne theory
because he is notithin the potected classeecognizedfor purposes of the equal protection
clause. These classie€lude those “based upon suspect distinctions, such as race, religion, and

alienage, and those impacting fundamental righfr&felner ex rel. Trefelner v. Burrell Sch.

Dist., 655 F. Supp. 2d 581, 589 (W.D. Pa. 200®)aintiff brings his equal protection claim



basedon his physical disabilittand he United StatesSupreme Court has held that physical

disability is not a protected class. Bd. of Trustees of Univ. of Ala. v. Garrett, 831366, 366

67 (2001) see als®udi v. JenkinsNo. 3:12CV-836, 2012 WL 30114 at *4 (M.D. Pa. July

23, 2012) (agreeing with the proposition that a person alleging disability disatiom is not in
a protected class under the equal protection clause). Thus, because Plangsffhisi equal
protection claim based on his didéli his equal protection claim must bealyzed undea
“class of one” theory.

A plaintiff asserting a “class of one” claim must show that: (1) defendasiisgainder
color of state lawintentionally treated plaintiff differently from otresimilady situated and

(2) that there was no rational basis for the treatméhessley vPa. Dep't. of Corrs, 365 F.

App’x 329, 33132 (3d Cir. 2010).In order to satisfy the first prong, a plaintiff mysausibly
allegethe existence of similarly siated individuals whom the defendant treated differently than

the plaintiff. Perano vIwp. of Tilden, 423 F. App’x 234, 238 (citin@tartzell v. City of Philg.

533 F.3d 183, 203 (3d Cir. 2008))In comparing the plaintiff with such similarly situated
individuals, the individuals must be alike to plaintiff “in all relevant aspedts.”

Where a plaintiff fails to sufficiently identify the existence of such similaityated
parties, the plaintiff's class of one claim will failln Perang a mobile home park developer
appealed the district cowsttismissal of his class of one equal protection clai@8 F. App’xat
235-36. There, the developer sued the Township after disputs® concerningoning and
whether the developer had acquired a license to operate the mobile hom@&@anko 423 F.
App’x at 236. In support of his class of one claitihe developesimply stated that he was
treated differently from “other similarly situated resitl@hand commercial developérsid. at

238. Indetermining that plaintiff's class of one claim was properly dismjgbedThird Circuit

10



reasonedhat “[w]ithout more specific factual allegations as to the allegedly similarlytsdua
parties,[plaintiff] has not made plausible the conclusion that those parties exist and that they are
like him in all relevant aspectsId. at 238-39.

Here like the developer irPerang Plaintiff has failed to allege that similarly situated

parties exist and that they are like Plaintiff in all relevant aspdathis Complaint, Plaintiff
does not point teimilarly situated parties, such ather prospective jurors or other individuals
entering the CJC. Hes does not state that there were other individuals with medical cards or
with physical disabilities that required the aid of a md&alice who were permitted to enter the
CJC while he was not. The origther” partiesreferred tan theComplaint are Diendants, two
court employees who staffed the jury reeffTanya” anda woman named Helen Holsworth
and jury commissioner Daniel Rendine. (Doc. No. 1 Y 13, 19, Rke the developer in
Perano Plaintiff has failed toassert in the Complairgpecific fatual allegations as to the
existence of similarlgituated parties In this regard;he has not made plausible the conclusions
that those parties exist and that they are like him in all relevant resp@etiaho 423F. App’x
23839. Accordingly, Plaintiff has not plausibly establisheade was intentionally treated
differently from other similarly situated partiesTherefore his equal protection claim will be
dismissed.
C. Sheriff McClendon and unnamed DeputySheriffs are entitled
to qualified immunity on Plaintiff’'s Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendment claims
Even if Plaintiff had alleged facts to plausibly allege violations of his Fourth and

Fourteenth Amendment rights, the individual sheriffs would be entitled to qualifiedimity.
Qualified immunity applies so long as the officers’ conduct did not violate “clestigblished

statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have Kkndwmted

11



Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc. iwp. of Warrington, Pa.316 F.3d 392, 398 (3d Cir. 2003). Thus,

courts must analyze whether: (1) the plaintiff has alleged the deprivation of taal ac
constitutional right; and (2) whether the right was clearly established at thefttime alleged

violation. Id. at 39899 (citing Saucer v. Katz 533 U.S. 194, 200 (2001))Underthe second

prong, in order to show that a right is clearly established, a plaintiff must sheivévery
reasonable official would have understood that what he is doing violates that iiRgittile v.
Howards, 132 S. Ct. 2088, 2093 (2012) (internal quotations omitted). “In other words, existing
precedent must have placed the statutory or constitutional question beyond diebate.”

In theinstantcase Defendants Sheriffs McClendon and the unnamed deputiffstaee
entitled to qualified immunity orPlaintiff's Fourth Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment
claims. The first prong of the qualified immunity analysis requires atflam set forth facts
that allege the deprivation of an actual constitutiorggdtri Here, Plaintiff has not done so in the
Complaint. In the absence of a constitutional violation, the sheriffs are entitllee protection
of qualified immunity.

In addition, Plaintiff is unable to satisfy the second prong of the qualified intynuni
inquiry—that the right was clearly established at the time of the alleged viofatidtiaintiff’s
Fourth Amendment claim and Plaintiff's substantive due process claim. For pugiobes
prong, courts examin&hether“a reasonable official in theefendant's position at the relevant
time could have believed, in light of clearly established law, that [his or her] dorwaported

with established legal standardsMcLaughlin v. Watson271 F.3d 566, 571 (3d Cir. 2001).

Here, a reasonable deputyesiff in Defendants’ position would not have believed his conduct

was unlawful.

12



With regard to the Fourth Amendment claim, there is no precedent that woulthéead
deputy sheriffsto believe that escorting Plaintiff out of the courthouse constituted an
unreasonable seizure. The individual Defendants never touched or detained Plaintiéirdbyt m
instructed him to leave the CJC. Thus, the deputy sheriffs were reasaonbéleving thatheir
actions were lawful when they escortaintiff from theCJC.

RegardingPlaintiff’s substantive due process claim under the Fourteenth Amendment, a
noted above, the Court could not find any authority to support the proposition that Plairdiff has
protected liberty interest in serving as juror. Plaintdis mot provided the Court with any
authority on that point. Because there is no existing precedent that recognbersyariterest
in serving as a juror, the individual Defendahere would not have believed they violated
clearly established law whethey prevented Plaintiff from continuing with jury selectibn
escorting him out of the courthous@hus, Plaintiff’s substantive due process claim also fails
because the Defendant deputy sheriffs would be protected by qualified immAcdordingly,
Defendants are cloaked with qualified immuratyd for this additional reason, Plaintiff’'s Fourth

and Fourteenth Amendment claims will be dismisged.

% In their Motion to Dismiss, Defendants did not argue that the individual Defendargs wer
entitled to qualified immunity on Plaintiff’'s equal protection claim. Howevenaed above,
Plaintiff failed to plausibly allege that he sustained an equal pimteciolation, and thus,
Defendants would be entitled to qualified immunity under the first prong of the gdalifi
immunity requirements. As a result, the Court will not discuss the second prouoglidied
immunity—whether the right was clearly estahksl at the time of the alleged violatieas it
would apply to the equal protection claimSee Constitutional GuidedValking Tours v.
Independence Visitor Ctr. Corp., 454 F. App’x 118, 123 (3d Cir. 2011) (finding that aypella
“failure to satisfy the fist prong of the qualified immunity analysis obviates the need to
evaluate the second prong”).

13



2. Plaintiff's Monell claim against the City of Philadelphiawill be
dismissed

Plaintiff next brings a claim of municipal liability against the City of Philadelphia.
establish municipal liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983interpreted by thénited StateSupreme
Courts decisionin Monell, a plaintiff must demonstrate that the municipality, through the
implementation of a formal policy or a custom, caused the plaintiff’'s underbpngtitutional

violation. Monell v. Dep't ofSoc. Servs.of City of N.Y., 436 U.S. 658, 6985 (197§. A

plaintiff must “show that a policymaker is responsible either for the policy or, through

acquiescence for the custom®ndrew v. City of Phila., 89%.2d 1469, 1480 (3d Cir. 19907

plaintiff mustalsoestablisha direct causal link between the identifigolicy or custom and the

alleged constitutional violation.__Collins v. City of Harker Heighfex, 503 U.S. 115, 123

(1992). A complaint will be dismissed for failing to state a plausilden underMonell if the
plaintiff fails to specify the relevarpolicy or custom and simply paraphratles elements o

Monell claim. SeeWood v. Williams 568 F. App’x 100, 104 (3d Cir. 2014) (explaining that a

plaintiff “simply paraphrasing § 1983 does not meet Rule 8’s pleading requirementséeat
fails to satisfy the rigorous standards of culpability and causation required tcastédan for

municipal liability”) (internal quotations omitted)McTernan v. City of York, Pa., 564 F.3d 636,

658 (3d Cir. 2009) Here, Plaintiff'sMonell claim will be dismisgd for the following two

reasons.

First, in his Complaint, Plaintiffails to plausibly alleg¢hat the City of Philadelphia had
a policy or customthat causedhis alleged constitutional violationsln support of Plaintiff's
claim of municipal liability against the City of Philadelphia, Plairgifitesthe followingin his

Complaint

14



Plaintiff’s adverse treatment ithe result of policies customs, omissions, and
continuing indifference on the paof the City of Philadelphia and the City of
Philadelphia [sic], through its agents, deprived Plaintiff of reasonablesatras
public building because of Plaintiff’s disability. The City of Philadelphia is
responsible for the harms suffered by failing to provide adequate training, by
failing to censure Defendant Deputy Sheriffs, and by failing to provide Plaintiff
with any feedbaclor assurances to assure Plaintiff that he does not suffer the
same discriminatory treatment in the future at the CJC oero@ity of
Philadelphia buildings.

(Doc. No. 1 1 25.)

These allegations doot sufficiently identify a relevant policy or custom that caused
constitutional violation. They do natclude “specific allegations referencing the conduct, time,
place,and persons responsible for any official municipal policy or custom” as e€iirsurvive

a motion to dismiss.Mason v. City of Phila.No. 13¢ev-5163, 2014 WL 4722640, at *10 (E.D.

Pa. Sept. 22, 2014)In the Complaint, Plaintiffhas merely recited the elements oManell
claim and has failed to include any specific factual allegations about thentefeM&y or
custom. SeeWood 568 F. App’x at 10Fdismissing plaintiff’'s municipal liability claim where
plaintiff’'s complaint “did not allege factshowing any particular or specific policy or custom, or
how it allowed the claimed constitutional violation to occur, identifying the policymake
decisionmaker, or showing prior notice through a pattésimilar constitutional violations”).
Second as described above, Plaintiff has failed to plausibly allege that hensaseai
constitutional violation under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments. Thus, Pdauhiffell
claim also fails because he cannot establish that the City of Philadelpblia¥ @ custom
caused a constitutional violation. For these two reasons, Plaintiff’s Miaiell against the City

of Philadelphia will also be dismissed.

15



B. Plaintiff's Claim Under Title Il of the ADA Will N ot Be Dismissed

Plaintiff also alleges that Defendants violated Title Il of the Americans Righbilities
Act (the “ADA”). In order to bring a claim under Title Il of the ADAlatiff must plausibly
allege that: (1) he is a qualified individual with a disability; (2) he was egdludom
participation in or denied the benefits of some public entity’s services, prograaddjwities, or
was otherwise discriminated agairstd (3) such exclusion, denial of benefits, or discrimination

was by reason of his disability. Mutschler v. SCI Aib@HCA Health Cared445 F. App’'x 617,

621 (3d Cir. 2011) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 12132). Defendants do not dispute that Plaintiff is a
qualifiedindividual with adisability or that he was excluded from participation in jury selection
andforced to leave a folic building. Rather, Defendants contend that Plaintiff's claim fails
because he has not plausibly alleged that he was removed from the coubkhaisse ohis
disability. (Doc. No. 4 at 11.)

The court n McNamara v. OhidBuilding Authority examinedat the motion to dismiss

stage whethea plaintiff had plausibly alleged that he was denied access to a public building
because of his disabilityg97 F. Supp. 2d 820 (N.D. Ohio 2010). MeNamara the plaintiff had
multiple physical disabilities thategessitated the use of a Segway Personal Transporter for
traveling even short distancesicNamara 697 F. Supp. 2dt 823. The plaintiffbrought a Title

Il claim under the ADA after he was denied access to a government buiklimg his Segway.

Id. at 824. The plaintiff in McNamara arrived at a government building erplainedto two

state troopers and thmiilding manager that he had an appointment with the Ohio Civil Rights
Commission that necesskiat the use of his Segway insid&. at 824. He was nevertheless
refused acceswith the Segway Id. After threatening legal action, plaintiff was permitted to

park the Segway at the security deskl access the building in a wheelché&it. In holding that

16



plaintiff had plausibly alleged a T&lll violation under the ADA, the court reasoned that the
building manager had been rude, had forced plaintiff to discuss his disability puahdy,
plaintiff was offered no assistance when he was refused agitbdbe Segway. Consideringall
these fats, the court concluded that plaintiff had sufficiently plleat he was denied accdss
the building because of his disability and thusdhaém under Title Il of the ADAcould survive a
motion to dismiss

Here, Plaitiff has also plausibly allegedhdt he was forced to leave the CJC and not
permitted to serve as a potential juror because of his disalilitg the plaintiff inMcNamara
Plaintiff here was not permitted to enter the building because of the device he used to
accommodate his disabilit Even though Plaintiff showed the deputy sheriffs his medical card,
displayed a juror sticker, eventually pulled up his shirt to displayntétl pump protruding
from his stomach, and finally had the sheriffs confirm with court staff thattfflavas properly
there to serve as a potential juror, Plaintiff waserthlespersuadedo exit the buildingor face
being arrested Examining these facts in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, he has plausibly
alleged that he was denied access to the GiCeacluded from participation in jury duty
because of his disability. Thus, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss will be demdelaintiff's
claim under the ADA.
V. CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss will be grantedtiamzh
denied in part. Defendants’ Motiamill be granted with respect to Plaintiff’s claims under 42
U.S.C. § 1983. Defendants’ Motiosill be denied regarding his claimnder Title Il of the

ADA. An appropriate Order follows.
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